STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Petitioner, Earnest Tillman, had been an invited guest to a party at the home of a neighbor in the Deerfield subdivision of southern Orange County on November 7, 1997. (T II, 141-142, 160) ¹ 23-year old Earnest had walked around the block from where he lived to the party at Anella and Hena Askar's house. (T II, 141-142, 160) The Petitioner had been introduced to Hena Askar, by his cousin, Curtis Butler, who was 17. (T II, 141, 160) The party was already going on when Tillman arrived. (T 142) About 40-45 people whom Earnest believed to be younger than he were at the party. (T II, 142)

Tillman was standing in the front yard of the residence after arriving at the party when a uniformed officer walked up and told everyone to leave or go inside. (T II, 143-144) The Petitioner walked down the side yard and into the pool enclosure (T II, 145-146).

Parks Duncan had been working in the Deerfield subdivision Homeowners Association in an off-duty capacity on November 7, 1997. (T I, 17, 29) When Duncan, wearing his Orange County Sheriff's Office standard green uniform with

¹The record-on-appeal consists of two volumes of the transcript of documents filed with the Clerk (R 50-200; R 201-26); two consecutively-numbered volumes of transcript of the hearings on the motion to dismiss, and sentencing (R 1-17; R18-49); and two volumes of the transcript of trial (T 1-103; T II, 104 -238).

his badge and rank and driving his unmarked Sheriff's Office-issued 1996 Silver Mustang GT, passed by Rolling Brook Drive he had observed a large number of parked vehicles, and between twenty and thirty people standing in the front yards among five or six different houses. (T I, 18-19) Approximately three houses from where Duncan estimated the party to be, Duncan observed two males with open alcoholic beverages. (T I, 18) Duncan also said he had heard loud music playing. (T I, 19) Duncan admitted that there had not been any complaint from anyone concerning the party; his described investigative activity had been "self-initiated." (T I, 23, 31, 35)

After parking at the end of the row of cars and walking back seven or eight houses, Duncan confronted the individuals and told them to return to the party-- he did not want them to be out in the neighborhood. (T I, 20) All the people were Hispanic except five black males in the street who were loud and boisterous. (T I, 21) Duncan approached them directly and asked them to return to the party and they started moving towards the backyard of the house. (T I, 21-22) As the men approached the screened-in pool area at the back of the house they continued to escalate the noise, loudness, yelling and screaming. (T I, 22, 32-33) One did utter a loud obscenities [sic] and made threats to Duncan.² (T I, 22) Duncan believed

²The threat was to "fuck up" Duncan's Mustang. (T I, 13; T II, 129)

the threat had been made by an individual with whom he was familiar, although he had not seen him. (T I, 23) Duncan testified that Tillman had not been drinking any alcohol, nor was he the person who had threatened the deputy. (T I, 30, 32) Duncan confirmed that the two individuals with alcoholic beverages were juveniles because he had asked them. (T I, 29) Due to the underage drinking, the number of individuals at the party, and the threat made, Duncan called for back-up. (T I, 22-23)

Twelve to 15 deputies initially responded, and then possibly another 5 including supervisors. (T I, 34) One of the officers, Deputy Henriquez, had been working a special traffic detail in the area when he heard Deputy Duncan's request for back-up, upgraded to an emergency back-up. (T I, 39) When he reached the site, lights and sirens on his marked vehicle activated, he saw several young teenagers milling about in the yard. (T I, 39-40) When asked at trial if there was a lot of noise Henriquez responded "there was a party, basically, there was a party going on." (T I, 41) Henriquez noted that there had been a lot of teenagers but he had not really focused on whether or not they were drinking. (T I, 41)

Deputy Duncan flagged down the responding officers from the edge of the street. (T I, 40) Duncan advised the officers that two individuals whom he had recognized as being possible bank robbers or suspects had threatened him. (T I, 41) Duncan led the officers back to the screened porch area where Henriquez claimed to have seen the two men run. (T I, 41) Eight to 10 deputies entered on both sides of the screened-in pool area (T I, 23, 34-35) Duncan asked for quiet and that the 60-or-so people in the that area sit down. (T I, 23) Duncan pointed out the gentleman later identified as Tillman who was beginning to walk out of the screened porch area as one of the men who had threatened him. (T I, 42, 54)

The officers made no announcements and offered no explanations for their presence. (T II, 147-148) When he saw officers beginning to enter the pool area, Tillman attempted to leave to go home. (T II, 147-148). As the Petitioner walked towards the door, one of the officers, Henriquez, stuck his hands inside Earnest's jacket and searched him (T II, 148-151). Although the officer never said that Earnest was under arrest or that he was not free to leave, Earnest assumed that he was not free to leave when the officer would not let him go. (T II, 149) Earnest had never spoken to Deputy Henriquez until the deputy had started searching him; then Earnest asked him what he was doing. (T II, 149) Henriquez said he was searching him. (T II, 149) Earnest did not want the deputy to search him and he never gave his permission for the deputy to do so. (T II, 149-150) Earnest told the deputy that what he was doing was an illegal search and seizure. (T II, 150) Henriquez asked Earnest if he had any weapons, and Earnest told him

that he did not. Earnest had no weapons and no contraband, but still Henriquez continued to search him. (T II, 150-151) When Earnest asked the deputy again what he was doing, Henriquez asked Earnest if he was going to let him search him or not. (T II, 151) Earnest said, "Like I have a choice?" (T II, 151) Henriquez said, "No, you don't." (T II, 151)

After the search produced nothing, the officer told Tillman to sit down (T II, 151). Tillman refused and started to turn either to walk away or to begin to sit down (T II, 152; T I, 44). By that time there were more deputies coming behind the first three, and when Henriquez turned to talk to the first two deputies, Earnest was trying to read his name plate to report him to Internal Affairs. (T II, 151) When Henriquez saw Earnest looking at his name plate he became angry and shouted, "Sit down! Sit down!" (T II, 151) Earnest started to tell the deputy that he was not one of these kids, but then turned around to go sit down. (T II, 152) By his own admission, at this point Henriquez grabbed Tillman's right shoulder (T I, 44). The officer claimed that Tillman spun around and put him into a headlock. (T I, 44) Henriquez said that he attempted to remove himself from the headlock by dropping to the ground, but that other deputies had jumped on top of Tillman and him. (T I, 44-45)

Tillman testified that the officer pushed him causing him to stumble towards

the pool. (T II, 152) When he turned around Tillman saw the officer coming at him and so he put his hands up. (T II, 152-153) The officer ran into him, lost his balance and fell to the ground. (T II, 152-153, 160-162) Other officers jumped on top of Tillman and Henriquez. (T I, 45; T II, 154-155) Earnest could not get up off of Henriquez because the officers were jumping on his head and back. (T II, 154) He thought that more than two deputies were on his back. (T II, 155) Earnest did not intentionally put his arm around Henriquez into a headlock; when he had fallen his hands had gone up under his body. (T II, 154) Earnest's right arm was underneath him between his body and Deputy Henriquez. (T II, 155) He could not release his arms until the deputies got off of him. (T II, 162)

Duncan heard a commotion behind him and turned to see 5-6 bodies on the ground in a big struggle. (T I, 24-25) The deputies had to use chemical spray on the individual to get him to stop resisting and fighting. (T I, 25) Most of the juveniles were starting to choke from the spray. Duncan did not see who was involved in the commotion because he wanted to evacuate the juveniles from the area. (T I, 25)

To avoid creating a larger problem due to the size of the crowd, a supervisor directed that the two gentlemen be taken to another location to get the paperwork started. (T I, 46-47) The two black males who were resisting were taken out front.

No one had accused Earnest of any crime, nor had they told him that he was under arrest. (T II, 155) Still they handcuffed Earnest and his eyes were burning as they led him out into the street. (T II, 155) Once there, they threw him up against the back of a police car and started searching him again. (T II, 156) They got his driver's license and asked if he still lived at this address and when Earnest did not answer they screamed at him. (T II, 156) The deputies snatched Earnest off of the car and had him on the ground, beating his head on the concrete. (T II, 163) When the officers hog-tied Earnest he began beating his own head against the ground because he could not take the abuse anymore. (T II, 163) The officers moved Tillman over to the grass from the pavement because he was beating his head on the ground. (T I, 26)

Duncan stated that the officers needed to go into the residence "to conclude any investigation of what I believed to be a felony, at that point in time a determination if the individual I thought was the one that made the threat was indeed there." (T I, 35) However, Duncan admitted that upon entering the door he did not have probable cause to arrest anyone. (T I, 35) Duncan testified that he had not obtained permission to enter the residence, nor did he have a warrant. (T I, 38)

Deputy Carlos Torres testified that while everyone was in the process of sitting down in response to one of the deputies' request, he heard a big

commotion. (T I, 68) When he turned around Deputy Henriquez was telling Tillman to sit down and he refused. (T I, 68) It happened real quick-- the gentleman grabbed the deputy by the neck at the same time they went down to the ground. They just kind of fell down. (T I, 68) After a deputy used chemical spray the deputies were able to secure Tillman. (T I, 69) According to Torres, Tillman was being belligerent when he was being taken away, cursing and pulling away. (T I, 69) When he began to tussle with the officers they put him in a hobble. (T I, 69-70)

By the time Deputy Herrera responded that night he saw a bunch of juveniles-- some crying and hysterical-- exiting from the front door of the residence. (T I, 62) He asked them where the deputies were, and they pointed to the back of the residence. (T I, 62) Herrera entered through the wide-open door and went through the house to the pool area where he found 3-4 deputies on top of a black male. (T I, 62) The deputies were attempting to handcuff the subject but his hands were underneath him. (T I, 63) Herrera got down on his knees and told the man to allow the deputies to cuff him. (T I, 63) When the man refused and responded with profanity, Herrera administered chemical agent and then the subject complied. (T I, 63-64) Herrera had no idea why Tillman was being arrested. (T I, 65)

Henriquez sustained a broken ankle, and ended up having to wear a hard cast

on his foot up to 6 inches from his knee for six weeks. (T I, 48-52) He testified that he had undergone painful therapy and rehabilitation. (T I, 51-52) Henriquez admitted that he has suffered no permanent disability, he retained a small bump on his ankle the size of a marble. (T I, 57-58) He was also back on normal duty without any limitation. (T I, 58)

* * * * *

Petitioner Tillman was charged by information filed by the assistant state attorney with aggravated battery of a law enforcement officer causing great bodily harm, and resisting an officer with violence. (R 55-56) In count one, the Petitioner was charged with having intentionally touched or struck an officer engaged in the lawful performance of a legal duty causing great bodily harm, permanent disability or permanent disfigurement. (R 55) In count two, Tillman was charged with offering or doing violence to an officer conducting an investigation by wrapping his arm around the head of said officer and pulling him to the ground. (R 56) Tillman's motion to dismiss the information was denied. (R 1-17, 81-92, 103-105)

Prior to trial before Judge Maura Smith on November 20-21, 2000, Tillman rejected a plea offer whereby he would plead guilty to one count of battery on a law enforcement officer, the state would nolle pros count two, and the sentence would be 648 days time served. (T I, 3-4)

After the State rested its case, the defense moved for judgment of acquittal on both counts arguing that there was not one shred of evidence that officers were in the lawful performance of a legal duty, citing *Smith v. State*, 399 So.2d 70 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981). (T II, 135-137) Both the deputies entry of the residence and pat down /search of the Petitioner violated the Constitution and the law. (T II, 135-136) The State cited *State v. Cochran*, 667 So.2d 850 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996) which held that the illegality of a defendant's arrest did not bar his conviction for battery on a law enforcement officer. (T II, 137-139) The court denied the motion. (T II, 139)

The defense requested a special jury instruction based upon *Payton v. New York*, 445 U.S. 573 (1980), that a warrantless, nonconsensual entry of such a home to make a routine felony arrest violates the Fourth Amendment. (T 106) The State argued that *Payton* did not apply because the police were not entering his home to effect an arrest based upon probable cause. (T II, 113, 125) The court determined that it could not give any instruction on the lawful performance of a legal duty because it was disputed, and determined not to give the requested *Payton* instruction. (T II, 167-177)

The jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged on both counts. (R 215-217,

231-236) Consistent with the State's recommendation, Tillman was sentenced to a low-end guidelines sentence of 47.1 prison months with credit for 657 days time served, to be followed by one year supervised probation, (R 40-47; 238-249)

On appeal the Petitioner challenged the convictions because the State had failed to adduce any evidence that the officers had been engaged in the lawful performance of a legal duty, an essential element of both charged crimes. The Fifth District Court issued an opinion which held that (1) even if the warrantless entry into the private residence, the pat down search, and the detention were all illegal, they were less of an intrusion than an arrest, and so the Petitioner was not justified in using force to resist the illegal police conduct, and therefore (2) he could be convicted of violations of Section 784.07(2) and Section 843.01 even absent any proof of the essential element of lawful performance of a legal duty. *Tillman v.* State, 807 So.2d 106 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002). The Fifth District Court attempted to distinguish this case from *Taylor v. State*, 740 So.2d 89 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) because "the police did not illegally enter Tillman's home," citing to State v. Suco, 521 So.2d 1100 (Fla. 1988) and Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128 (1978). Motion for rehearing and certification was denied on February 22, 2002.

Petitioner Tillman timely filed notice of his intent to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court to review the District Court's January 18, 2002, decision

in this case, in the Fifth District Court of Appeal, on March 25, 2002. Following the filing of jurisdictional briefs, this Court accepted jurisdiction, but stayed proceedings in this cause, pending disposition of *Harris v. State*, case No. SC02-219. Following briefing and oral argument in that case, this Court discharged jurisdiction and dismissed the review proceeding. *Harris v. State*, 2004 WL 583061 (Fla. March 25, 2004). On March 29, 2004 this Court lifted the stay in the instant case and set briefing on the merits. This brief follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Where the Petitioner was charged with battering and resisting, trespassing officers performing an illegal investigation, and conducting an illegal search and seizure without semblance of probable cause inside a residence– the State and federal law and constitutions require that the charges be vacated. Both the plain meaning of the statutes under which the Petitioner was charged, and the public policy which underpins it, direct that in order for the crimes of battery and resisting to be aggravated by the status of the victim as a law enforcement officer, the officer must be lawfully engaged in the execution of a legal duty.

The prohibition of the use of force *to make or resist* an illegal *arrest* in a separate section of the law is a reasonable limitation upon both the privilege to resist unlawful police behavior and the right of citizens to be left alone. This Court is asked to reject the errant line of authority which would blur the plain language and meaning of Sections 784.07(2), 843.01, and 776.051, Florida Statutes. In order to insure uniformity of the law in principle and practice, this Court is respectfully asked to quash *Tillman*, and approve *Taylor*.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL HOLDING THAT A DEFENDANT CAN BE CONVICTED OF BATTERY ON A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER AND RESISTING AN OFFICER WITH VIOLENCE EVEN THOUGH THE OFFICER IN QUESTION WAS NOT ENGAGED IN THE LAWFUL PERFORMANCE OF A LEGAL DUTY IS IN ERROR, AND IN CONFLICT WITH *TAYLOR V. STATE*, 740 SO.2D 89 (FLA. 1ST DCA 1999), AS WELL AS DECISIONS OF THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT, AND THIS COURT.

Standard of Review

Trial and appellate courts are on an equal footing to determine the legal sufficiency of the evidence, and this question is subject to de novo review on appeal. *See Tibbs v. State*, 397 so.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981), <u>aff'd</u>, 457 U.S. 31 (1982); *D.R. v. State*, 734 So.2d 455 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999).

<u>Argument</u>

The issue on appeal is whether acquittal of charges of resisting an officer with violence and aggravated battery on a law enforcement officer must be granted where the State failed to present any evidence that the officer was engaged in the lawful performance of a legal duty, an essential element of both crimes. Fla. Stat., Section 784.07(2), and Section 843.01 (1997); *see Taylor*. Although the Fifth District Court of Appeal found that the essential element of lawful performance of a

legal duty was not proven, it determined that the Petitioner should still be convicted of the crimes because he was not "justified" in resisting or battering the officer. The Court misapplied distinguishable case law which holds that a defendant is not privileged to resist an unlawful *arrest* with violence as provided under Section 776.051, Florida Statutes, to excuse the State's failure to prove lawful performance of a legal duty as an essential element of the crimes charged under Sections 784.07(2) and 843.01, Florida Statutes. This Court is asked to uphold *Taylor* and quash the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal, below. The *Tillman* Court begins its analysis by acknowledging that both the statutes and jury instructions for the charged crimes "...require the state to prove that the officer was lawfully performing or engaged in a duty at the time of the battery or resistance." *Tillman v. State*, 807 at 108. The court cites to its own case authority on this point. See Nicolosi v. State, 783 So.2d 1095 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001); and Smith v. State, 399 So.2d 70 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981). The court tracks case authority which, effective July 1, 1975, with enactment of the prohibition upon the use of force to resist arrest in Section 776.051, Florida Statutes, determined to read that provision in pari materia with Section 843.01. See State v. Barnard, 405 So.2d 210 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); *Lowery v. State*, 356 So.2d 1325 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978). As a result of this construction, the prohibition upon the use of force to resist any arrest– even

an unlawful one– stands as an exception, or limitation upon the reach of the requirement that an officer must have been about the "lawful performance of a legal duty" in order to charge a defendant either with resisting an officer with violence, or battery upon a law enforcement officer. Fla. Stat., Section 776.051 (1974); Section 784.07(2)(1997); and Section 843.01(1997). "[T]he end result [is] that the use of force in resisting an arrest by a person reasonably known to be a law enforcement officer is unlawful notwithstanding the technical illegality of the arrest." *Lowery* [citations omitted].

The court goes on to state:

We have extended the above rule to cover the crime of battery on a law enforcement officer, and to apply to illegal stops, detentions and even illegal contacts. *See State v. Giddens*, 633 So.2d 503 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) and *State v. Gilchrist*, 458 So.2d 1200 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). *See also, State v. Roux*, 702 So.2d 240 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997), and *Jones v. State*, 570 So.2d 433 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (no technically illegal arrest in *Roux*--agent simply walked toward Roux).

Despite these cases, Tillman argues that this court should follow *Taylor v. State*, 740 So.2d 89 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999)...

Tillman v. State, 807 at 109. The court seems to be saying that the in pari

materia rule of statutory construction gives the judicial branch license to extend the

plain meaning of different statutes on the same subject. In fact, it means that

statutes on the same matter or subject are to be construed together. *Black's Law Dictionary* 711 (5th ed. 1979). Various provisions on the same subject matter should be harmonized. *See State v. Bodden*, 2004 WL 792826 (Fla. 2004).

The Petitioner notes that the *Giddens*, and *Gilchrist* cases concerned the use of force to resist illegal arrests. The *Roux* case held that "[t]here is no right to commit a battery upon a law enforcement officer ...[e]ven if the agent had illegally detained Roux." *State v. Roux*, 702 at 241. Although this decision sidestepped the lawful performance issue, its holding that there is no "right" to attack a law enforcement officer would be difficult to quarrel with.

The most troublesome of the line of cases cited is *Jones v. State*, which found that the defendant's battery upon the law enforcement officer who was about to conduct an illegal search was not justified because "a person is not justified in committing a battery upon a law enforcement officer to resist an unlawful arrest" and " because [the] battery upon [the officer] was illegal, it necessarily follows that the evidence seized was seized incident to a lawful arrest." The *Tillman* Court's opinion fails to distinguish the subject-matter between cases dealing with resisting arrest, as compared with cases where resistance is to other unlawfully performed duties of law enforcement, among the cases upon which it relies. *See e.g., Espiet v. State*, 797 So.2d 598 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001)(defendant was properly charged with aggravated assault even though the officer illegally entered the defendant's home without exigent circumstances in *attempt to arrest* defendant for misdemeanor battery). [Emphasis added.] To the extent that the Fifth District Court of Appeal has, as it claims, "extended" the plain meaning of Section 776.051 to uphold convictions under Section 784.07(2) and Section 847.01 in lieu of satisfaction of a required statutory element, it has exceeded its authority.

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