## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

EARNEST TILLMAN,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO.: SC02-717 DCA case no.: 5D01-83

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_/

# ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

## RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #618550

WESLEY HEIDT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #773026 FIFTH FLOOR 444 SEABREEZE BLVD. DAYTONA BEACH, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990/FAX 238-4997

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

##

#### STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

In addition to the facts provided by the Petitioner, the State offers the following relevant information (all of which is specifically set out in the majority opinion of the district court):

1. The victim testified that after being hit by the car:

The car began to accelerate and I was still with my right hand trying to hold the strap (of her purse) that I was clinging to. As the car accelerated, I started to lose ground, and that's when I went down. I fell. I was dragged along the asphalt....

(TR 34). When asked how far she was dragged, the victim responded

I don't honestly remember how long I was being dragged, but it seemed like forever at the time. But once I felt the actual burning and ripping of my skin, I just gave up.

(TR 36).

2. The majority opinion also noted in response to the defense's argument that the car was simply a conveyance and was not used as a weapon:

The notion that the evidence at trial does no more than show that the vehicle was used as transportation to and from the site of the purse snatching ignores the victim's description of the events. At the very least, it is a jury question whether the automobile was used as a weapon.

Jenkins v. State, 747 So. 2d 997, 998 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999).

## CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

The type size and style used in this brief is 12 point Courier New.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The fact that a robbery was committed by the Petitioner in this case is undisputed. The only issue is whether there was sufficient evidence as to the use of the motor vehicle to submit the charged offense to the jury. It is the State's position that the trial court determination to deny the defense's motion for judgment of acquittal should be affirmed by this Court.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### POINT OF LAW

WHETHER A DEFENDANT CAN ARGUE JUSTIFIABLE USE OF FORCE OR VIOLENCE AGAINST A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER WHEN THE OFFICER'S ACTIONS WERE LATER DETERMINED BY A COURT TO BE IMPROPER.

Petitioner's position is that he can justifiably resist and batter a law enforcement officer if the officer's interactions with him are later found by a court to be illegal. The State disagrees.

Before addressing the merits of Petitioner's argument, the State will briefly reassert to this Court the issue of jurisdiction. While this Court has accepted jurisdiction in this case, it is still the position of the State that such was done improvidently. In <u>Jenkins v.</u> <u>State</u>, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1357-1358 (Fla. 1980), this Court discussed the creation of the district courts of appeal and quoted from <u>Ansin v.</u> <u>Thurston</u>, 101 So. 2d 808, 810 (Fla. 1958):

> It was never intended that the district courts of appeal should be intermediate courts... To fail to recognize that these are courts primarily of final appellate jurisdiction and to allow such courts to become intermediate courts of appeal would result in a condition far more detrimental to the general welfare and the speedy and efficient administration of justice than that which the system was designed to remedy.

In the instant case, the alleged direct conflict is between the case of <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 740 So. 2d 89 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1999), and <u>Tillman</u> <u>v. State</u>, 807 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2002). The First District Court of Appeal held in <u>Taylor</u> that a defendant could resist with violence the illegal entry by law enforcement into the defendant's house if law

enforcement lacked probable cause for an arrest. Of course, those are not the facts of the instant case as noted by the Fifth District Court of Appeal when it wrote

> [t]his case is distinguishable from <u>Taylor</u> because the police did not illegally enter Tillman's home; they entered the home of another. Although Tillman was invited to a party at the home, this fact alone does not give him standing to contest the illegality of the police entry. <u>See State v. Suco</u>, 521 So. 2d 1100, 1102 (Fla. 1988) (distinctions in the law among guests, licensees and invitees ought not to control; rather, the totality of the circumstances must be examined to determine whether a defendant had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the premises searched).

Give the fact <u>Taylor</u> can be distinguished, it is the position of the State that there is no direct conflict between the two cases. could not enter the defendant's house

Turning to the merits of Petitioner's argument, the issue is the application of section 776.051(1),<sup>1</sup> Fla. Stat., to interactions between defendants and law enforcement. Clearly, defendants cannot resist an arrest with force.<sup>2</sup> This point was recognized by this Court in <u>State v. Espinosa</u>, 686 So. 2d 1345, 1347 (Fla. 1996), when it wrote that courts consistently have read section 776.051 in pari materia with section 843.01 to eliminate the issue of the legality of the arrest as an element of resisting with violence.

That section provides: A person in not justified in the use of force to resist an arrest by a law enforcement officer who is known, or reasonably appears, to be a law enforcement officer.

Prior to 1975, Floridians could resist unlawful arrests with force. <u>See State v. Saunders</u>, 339 So. 2d 641 (Fla. 1976).

The more disputed question would be whether people can use force to resist encounters during which the officer does not have probable cause for an arrest such as illegal stops, searches, and detentions. Most cases have eliminated the issue of the legality of the detention and have held that a defendant cannot resist with violence even if the encounter is at a level short of an arrest. See Miller v. State, 636 So. 2d 144, 151 (1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1994), <u>citing</u>, <u>Reed v. State</u>, 606 So. 2d 1246 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1992); <u>Savage v. State</u>, 494 So. 2d 274 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), rev. denied, 506 So. 2d 1043 (Fla. 1987)); See e.q., State v. Downer, 789 So. 2d 1208 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2001) ("Even if the initial contact by the officers was unauthorized or illegal, [defendant] had no right to commit battery on the officer. Battery on a law enforcement officer is illegal. . . . Once [defendant] committed battery on one of the officer, the officers had the lawful right to seize and arrest him"); Norton v. State, 691 So. 2d 616, 617 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1997) (citing State v. Barnard, 405 So. 2d 210 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1981)(warrantless felony arrest in suspect's home did not justify suspect's use of force to resist arrest by uniformed officer he knew to be law enforcement officers); <u>Bradford v. State</u>, 567 So. 2d 911, 914 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1990); <u>see also</u> Harris v. State, 801 So. 2d 321 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001)(holding that an illegal stop does not automatically preclude a conviction for battery on a law enforcement officer); Dominique v. State, 590 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) (holding that an illegal investigative stop was not a defense to battery of a known police officer engaged in lawful performance of his duties); State v. Roux, 702 So. 2d 240 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997) (holding that an illegal detention does not authorize a defendant

to commit a battery upon a law enforcement officer); Miller v. State, 636 So. 2d 144 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994)(discussing that engaging in scuffle with officer during improper detention constitutes battery on law enforcement officer and can give rise to valid arrest and conviction for resisting arrest with violence); Bradford v. State, 567 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990)(discussing that although officer was not engaged in lawful performance of his duties when he initially searched defendant, defendant's intentional striking of officer during the encounter constituted battery or resisting arrest with violence).

Even the court in <u>Taylor</u> wrote

The comparison between a detention and an arrest may be similar enough in this contest, [unlawful detentions] but we do not think that section 776.051(1) can be extended to a situation in which an officer has entered someone's house without any arguable legal justification. An unlawful entry to a person's home is a far greater invasion of privacy than an unlawful arrest or detention on the street.

<u>Taylor</u>, 740 So. 2d at 91. Therefore, <u>Taylor</u> did not even hold that a defendant could resist an officer with force in situations short of an arrest. In fact, the court seems to accept the fact that such a principle should apply to most detention situations. What <u>Taylor</u> held was that a defendant in his home when encountering an officer who unlawfully entered that home could resist with violence.

Assuming for the sake of argument that <u>Taylor</u> was a proper interpretation of the law (a point the State will address later in this brief), Petitioner still cannot take advantage of this exception to justify his use of force to resist and batter

Officer Henriquez. As already noted in the jurisdictional point made previously, Petitioner's situation was not like Taylor's. Petitioner was not at his home. Petitioner was at best a guest who was invited to the party and lacks standing to argue that the officers were improperly on the owner's property. <u>See Rakas</u> <u>v. Illinois</u>, 439 U.S. 128 (1978); <u>see also</u>, <u>Minnesota v. Olson</u>, 495 U.S. 91, 95 (1990) ("Since the decision in <u>Katz v. United</u> <u>States</u>, 389 U.S. 347 [] (1967), it has been the law that 'capacity to claim the protection of the Fourth Amendment depends . . . upon whether the person who claims the protection of the Amendment has a legitimate expectation of privacy in the invaded place.'", <u>citing Rakas</u>, 439 U.S. at 143.

When moving for a judgment of acquittal (JOA), a defendant admits the facts adduced at trial as well as every conclusion which may be inferred from the evidence which is favorable to the State. <u>State v. Law</u>, 559 So. 2d 187 (Fla. 1989), <u>Lynch v.</u> <u>State</u>, 293 So. 2d 44 (Fla. 1974). The facts of this case show that a car hit the victim, the Petitioner grabbed her pursed, and she was dragged along the asphalt causing permanent injury.

In addition to the argument that this car was not used as a weapon, the defense submits that the Petitioner was not the driver of the vehicle; however, the principal statute states:

Whoever commits any criminal offense against the state, whether felony or misdemeanor, or aids, abets, counsels, hires, or otherwise procures such offense to be committed, and such offense is committed or is attempted to be committed, is a principal in the first degree and may be charged, convicted, and punished as such, whether he or she is or is not actually or constructively present at the commission of such offense.

§ 777.011, Fla. Stat. (1997). The purpose of the statute is to make all participants in a crime equally accountable. Harris v. State, 513 So. 2d 169 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987). Also, felons are generally responsible for the actions of their co-felons. <u>Lovette v. State</u>, 636 So. 2d 1304, 1306 (Fla. 1994). One who participates with another in a common criminal scheme is guilty of all crimes committed in furtherance of that scheme. Id. (quoting Jacobs v. State, 396 So. 2d 713, 716 (Fla. 1981)). This is so even though the defendant does not physically participate in the act, Id., or know in advance it will be committed, Diaz v. State, 600 So. 2d 529, 530 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. denied, 613 So. 2d 3 (Fla. 1992). The key is whether the extra criminal act done by the co-felon is in furtherance or prosecution of the initial common criminal design. Hampton v.

<u>State</u>, 336 So. 2d 378, 379-380 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 339 So. 2d 1169 (Fla. 1976).

The facts at trial showed that the two defendants intended to rob the victim, and the facts also showed that they used the car to facilitate the robbery. Clearly, the claim that the Petitioner himself was not driving should not be a defense.

The Petitioner also contends that it was not the Petitioner's intent to use the car to injure the victim. Although the State must prove intent<sup>3</sup> just as any other element of a crime, a defendant's mental intent is hardly ever subject Instead, the State must establish the to direct proof. defendant's intent (and a jury must reasonably attribute such intent) based on the surrounding circumstances. Brewer v. State, 413 So. 2d 1217 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982). A trial court should rarely, if ever, grant a motion for judgment of acquittal based on the state's failure to prove mental intent. Id. As previously noted, these defendants intended to rob the victim, and they used the car to carry out their plan.

Another assertion by the Petitioner is that the vehicle did not increase the degree of injury. The Petitioner alleges that he was simply in the car or that it was used as a conveyance incidental to the robbery. Again, this is a factual issue which was rejected by the jury. The Petitioner did not just use the

Of course intent to injure is not even an element of robbery. <u>See</u>,  $\S$ 812.13, Fla. Stat. (1997). The possible relevance of intent is to the issue of how the car was used by the defendants: as a weapon or as a conveyance.

car to aid his attempted escape after snatching the victim's purse. The car hit the victim, and the car pulled the victim across the pavement. The victim suffered a broken upper arm and other permanent injuries.

The Petitioner submits that the offense and the resulting injuries could have been the same if a defendant had grabbed someone's purse and ran off on foot or rode off on a bicycle. However, such argument would seem to miss the point that in addition to the concern and fear obviously suffered by someone who is hit by a car, the victim in this case was also drug across the parking lot. This dramatically increased the victim's injury. A defendant on foot or on a bike would not be able to drag someone down the road. Remove the power of the motor vehicle in this case from the Petitioner's use, and you remove the victim's injuries. Hit by the car, she fell fracturing her upper arm, and was then pulled along the pavement by the car.

Clearly, there were sufficient facts so as to submit the issue to the jury. That determination was made by the trial court, and it was affirmed by the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented above, the State respectfully prays this Honorable Court affirm the judgments and sentences imposed by the trial court in all respects.